THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Patrick Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001344

Civil Case No. 2023-CP-23-01912

Patricia Diehl,

Appellant,

v.

Home Depot Store SW #1127,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

s/ Chase H. Coble

Chase H. Coble (SC Bar No. 105057)

Poulin, Willey, Anastopoulos, LLC

32 Ann Street

Charleston, SC 29403

(803) 222-2222

teamcoble@poulinwilley.com

Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED
JUN 29 2026
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment where a genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether the pallet's placement created a hidden and unreasonable hazard.
2. Whether the trial court improperly weighed conflicting evidence in favor of the moving party, rather than construing the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, as required under Rule 56.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal challenges the Honorable Patrick Fant's Order granting summary judgment where genuine issues of material fact should have been left to a jury. Judge Fant concluded that a pallet haphazardly placed in the middle of a retail aisle posed no unreasonable risk as a matter of law. But the record tells a different story.

A witness described the pallet at issue as extending well beyond the merchandise stacked above it—offset, protruding, and situated differently from other pallets nearby. During his deposition, he recalled that it disrupted the walking path and left more than enough space underneath for a customer's foot to become trapped. Whether this condition was open and obvious or a concealed hazard is not a question for the bench. It is a question for the jury. Yet instead of viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the Court resolved those factual disputes in the moving party's favor. In doing so, the court exceeded the bounds of summary judgment and deprived Appellant of her right to trial.

Procedural History

This case arises out of a trip and fall incident that occurred at Home Depot Store SE #1127 in Greenville, South Carolina, on May 18, 2021. Appellant filed her Summons and Complaint in April 2023, asserting claims for negligence and premises liability based on injuries sustained in the fall.

Respondent denied liability and moved for summary judgment, arguing that (1) the pallet constituted an open and obvious condition; (2) there was no defect or negligent placement; and (3) Appellant could have avoided the hazard. Respondent filed its motion in September 2024, and both parties submitted memoranda in December 2024. A hearing was held on February 27, 2025.

Judge Fant granted summary judgment by written order entered April 17, 2025. Appellant timely filed a Motion to Reconsider, which was denied in May 2025. This appeal followed. The amount in controversy arises from a personal injury claim for damages related to physical injuries and medical expenses.

Factual History

Appellant contends she entered Respondent's store and tripped and fell when her foot got caught by a wooden pallet located in the middle of an aisle. Appellant sustained injuries when she fell face-first onto the ground. Appellant was deposed twice and a witness, Edward Andrew McCue, once.

According to Mr. McCue's testimony, the pallet in question was not centered beneath the merchandise stacked above it. (R. p. 214, ln. 9-10). He described the pallet as protruding outward more than ten inches past the edge of the product. (R. p. 219, ln. 15-17). He further stated that it was sitting differently than other pallets nearby. (R. p. 223, ln. 9-10). ("This [pallet] was sitting off compared to where the rest [were] sitting"). McCue also testified that the placement of the pallet required him to alter his walking path. (R. p. 223, ln. 11-12). ("...you actually had to kind of walk around [the pallet]...when we went by it"). He observed Appellant's foot entirely underneath the pallet. (R. p. 243, ln. 4-5). Mr. McCue also provided an affidavit which largely fell in line with his deposition testimony.

Judge Fant's Order neither reflects nor evaluates any of this testimony regarding the pallet's orientation, its protrusion, or its relation to other pallets in the store. Instead, the Order references perceived inconsistencies between McCue's and Appellant's testimony, and expressly finds that McCue's observations are not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews the grant of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court. *Williams v. Jeffcoat*, 444 S.C. 224, 233 (2024). Summary judgment is only proper when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653 (2008). Summary judgment is not proper when further inquiry into the facts is necessary to clarify the application of the law. *Williams*, 444 S.C. at 234.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment Where a Genuine Issue of Material Fact Existed as to Whether the Pallet's Placement Was Open and Obvious.

Summary Judgment is inappropriate when, as here, there are genuine issues of material fact or when further inquiry into the facts is desirable to clarify the application of law. *Middleborough Horizontal Property Regime Council of Co-Owners v. S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 479 (Ct. App. 1995). To establish a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must prove (1) a duty owed by defendant to plaintiff; (2) breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damages proximately resulting from the breach. *Shaw v. City of Charleston*, 351 S.C. 32, 40 (Ct. App. 2002).

A store, like Respondent here, owes a duty of care to invitees “to keep the premises reasonably safe and warn of any unreasonable dangers.” *Fountain v. Fred’s, Inc.*, 436 S.C. 40, 50 (2022). An owner generally does not owe a duty to warn of open and obvious conditions on the property. *Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light*, 340 S.C. 438, 446 (Ct. App. 2000). An owner can still be liable for injuries to an invitee, “despite an open and obvious defect” if the owner should anticipate that the invitee will encounter the condition or that the invitee is likely to be distracted. *Fountain* at 52 (an elevated walkway may be open and obvious but owner should have anticipated an invitee would not notice the condition); *Callander v. Charleston Doughnut Corp.*, 305 S.C. 123, 126 (1991)(holding that owner should “have anticipated the harm despite such knowledge or obviousness” of a stool not having a top because, in part, customers customarily backed up to the stools in order to sit down).

Here, the orientation of the pallet is not a trivial detail—it is a material fact that bears directly on the foreseeability and visibility of the hazard. Judge Fant’s Order treats the pallet generically, as though all pallets in a retail store are inherently open and obvious. Mr. McCue described this particular pallet as extending more than ten inches beyond the merchandise stacked on it, positioned askew compared to others nearby, and placed in such a way that it disrupted the walking path. (R. pp. 219, 223). This testimony supports a reasonable inference that the pallet was not positioned as a typical, expected store fixture. Whether a customer would notice such a condition—and whether a retailer should anticipate someone missing it—cannot be decided as a matter of law on this record. Because the trial court failed to consider these facts when evaluating duty and obviousness, summary judgment was improperly granted.

Although Mr. McCue’s testimony raised a genuine issue of material fact, the trial court concluded otherwise. Without addressing the record evidence—including his deposition and

affidavit—concerning the pallet’s orientation, placement, or deviation from other store fixtures, the court determined simply that the condition was open and obvious as a matter of law. In doing so, the court did not apply the law to undisputed facts. It made factual findings of its own and summary judgment does not permit that. As the next section explains, the trial court improperly weighed conflicting evidence and resolved factual ambiguities in favor of the moving party.

II. The Trial Court Improperly Weighed Conflicting Evidence in Favor of the Moving Party Rather than Construing the Facts in the Light Most Favorable to the Nonmoving Party as Required under Rule 56.

Summary judgment is not license for the trial court to resolve factual disputes or assess credibility of witnesses. Yet that is what occurred here. South Carolina courts have long held that summary judgment is improper when the facts are disputed or when the inferences drawn from facts are contested. *S.C. Prop & Cas. Guar. Ass’n v. Yensen*, 345 S.C. 512, 518 (Ct. App. 2001). The party adverse to a motion for summary judgment must produce evidence setting forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *John Deere Constr. & Forestry Co. v. N. Edisto Logging, Inc.*, 443 S.C. 424 (Ct. App. 2024).

Here, the trial court flattened the factual record—treating the pallet as a standard fixture and assuming its placement posed no unreasonable risk, rather than analyzing the specific testimony that it was misaligned, protruding, and atypical. Judge Fant’s Order makes no mention of the pallet’s orientation, its extension more than ten inches beyond the merchandise, or McCue’s testimony that it sat differently than other pallets in the store and disrupted the walking path. These details are not minor. They inform whether the hazard was open and obvious, as Judge Fant concluded, or hidden and unreasonable. By omitting this evidence entirely from the Order, the court expressly accepted the Respondent’s characterization of the pallet and implicitly rejected

conflicting Appellant's conflicting evidence. Effectively, Judge Fant stepped into the role of factfinder. This is not permissible at the summary judgment stage.

This omission is more than a gap in analysis, it is legal error. Summary judgment requires the court to view evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Instead, by omitting key evidence, Judge Fant's Order weighed credibility and resolved factual disputes in favor of Respondents. Because the trial court resolved a material dispute by ignoring the testimony that created it, reversal is warranted.

CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment by failing to evaluate key testimony, drawing inferences in favor of the moving party, and resolving material factual disputes that should have been reserved for the jury. The evidence regarding the pallet's unusual placement, protrusion, and orientation created genuine issues of material fact that preclude judgment as a matter of law. Because the trial court did not view the evidence in the light most favorable to Appellant—as Rule 56 requires—its decision must be reversed.

Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment and remand this matter for trial.