RECEIVED

Jun 25 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Patrick C. Fant III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001344

Case No. 2023-CP-23-01912

Patricia Diehl,Appellant,

v.

Home Depot Store SW #1127, Home Depot Management Company, LLC, HD Development of
Maryland, Inc., Charles Hilliard, and Home Depot, U.S.A., Inc. Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

s/ Kyle D. McGann

Kyle D. McGann (SC Bar No. 103113)

Gallivan White & Boyd, PA

1201 Main Street

Columbia, SC 29201

kmcgann@gwblawfirm.com

Attorney for Respondents

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Appellant abandoned her first two (2) grounds stated in the Notice of Appeal**
- II. The Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment in its April 17, 2025 Order**
 - a. The Circuit Court correctly found the wooden pallet was not a dangerous condition.**
 - b. The Circuit Court correctly found Respondent had no knowledge of the Pallet being a dangerous condition.**
 - c. The Circuit Court correctly found the wooden pallet was open and obvious.**
 - d. The Circuit Court correctly found Appellant's own negligence was greater than Respondents.**

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a premises liability case, where Appellant Patricia Diehl (“Appellant” or “Diehl”) alleges she was injured while shopping at a Home Depot store (the “Store”) located in Greenville, South Carolina (R. pp. 4-5). Appellant is now appealing the April 17, 2025 Order from the Honorable Patrick Fant, which granted multiple dispositive motions in favor of Defendants Home Depot Store SE #1127; Home Depot Management Company, LLC; HD Development of Maryland, Inc.; and Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. (collectively “Home Depot”).

Procedural History

Diel filed her initial Summons and Complaint on April 18, 2023, asserting a sole cause of action under a negligence theory rooted in premise liability against Home Depot. (See generally Pl. Compl.).

Specifically, Appellant’s Complaint alleges that she “slipped and/or tripped, and fell while walking” in the Store (the “Incident”), and as a result she allegedly “suffered an extreme high-impact collision with the floor, resulting in severe and acute injury.” (R. p. 5).

On September 1, 2023, Home Depot filed a timely Answer, raising general denials, including certain Home Depot defendants being improper parties, negligence on the part of Appellant, and lack of notice. (R. pp. 1-8). Discovery ensued and Appellant was deposed on two (2) separate occasions per consent of the Parties. Appellant’s first Deposition (R. pp. 15-83) began on February 6, 2024. The deposition was temporarily halted and Appellant’s deposition resumed and concluded on March 19, 2024 (R. pp. 88-175). As discovery continued, on February 8, 2024, the trial court issued a Consent Scheduling Order (the “Scheduling Order”). The Scheduling Order stated that all discovery was to be concluded by August 10, 2024. (R. p. 84).

On September 12, 2024, shortly after the discovery deadline expired, and without first seeking leave to amend, Appellant filed an Amended Summons and Complaint naming Charles Hilliard (“Hilliard”) as an additional Defendant. (See generally R. pp. 176-182).

The same day, on September 12, 2024, because discovery was complete, Home Depot filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Original Complaint. (See R. pp. 183-186).

Shortly thereafter, on September 23, 2024, Home Depot filed a Motion to Strike the Amended Complaint, and Hilliard filed a Motion to Dismiss. (See R. pp. 187-189).

On February 28, 2025, the Honorable Patrick C. Fant, III heard arguments from all parties concerning Home Depot and Hilliard’s pending dispositive Motions (the “Hearing”). During the Hearing, Appellant’s Counsel confirmed that Appellant consented to the trial court granting Hillard’s Motion to Dismiss and striking Appellant’s Amended Complaint. (See R. p. 261). Judge Fant took the arguments under advisement for consideration along with the memorandums, deposition transcripts, affidavits, and related exhibits.

On April 17, 2025, the Honorable Patrick C. Fant, III, issued an Order Granting Defendant Charles Hillard’s Motion to Dismiss; Striking Appellant’s Amended Complaint; and Granting Defendant Home Depot’s Motion for Summary Judgment (the “Order”). (See R. pp. 289-299).

On April 25, 2025, Appellant filed a Motion to Amend the Order (See R. pp. 300-308), which the Court denied by issuing an Order on May 7, 2025 (See R. p. 318-319).

Appellant then filed her Notice to Appeal the Order.

Factual History

Appellant alleges that she was injured while shopping in the Store on May 18, 2021. (R. p. 5). During her deposition, Appellant clarified the appearance of the aisle where the Pallet was located, and her testimony illustrates there were no other pallets lined up in front of the Pallet. (R.

pp. 46-47). Rather, as Appellant approached the Pallet, Appellant's feet went underneath the Pallet, which allegedly caused her injuries. (R. p. 50).

Additionally, throughout her deposition, Appellant did not critique the condition of the Pallet. Rather, Appellant simply took issue with the Pallet being in the aisle at all. (R. p. 159).. Appellant stated that she did not see the Pallet, including the merchandise sitting atop the Pallet, until after she fell, even though she confirmed the Pallet contained merchandise stacked up to her hip or groin area. (R. p. 160; R. p. 49). Rather, Appellant stated she was looking down at her feet while she walking in the Store. (R. p. 159). She agreed that she would have seen the Pallet had she been looking up and she agreed that it is normal for people to look where they are walking. (R. p. 51; R. pp. 161-162). Further, Appellant agreed that she looks up more than ninety percent (90%) of the time when walking. (R. p. 161).

Also in her deposition, Appellant stated that she did not try to walk around the Pallet. (R. p. 159). Appellant stated she has seen similar pallets in Home Depot and other competitors stores (i.e. Lowes) prior to this Incident, and she agreed that she was aware these types of pallets are out on display in these stores (R. pp. 50-51).

Appellant's Counsel attempted to minimize his client's testimony at the Hearing, claiming the trial court needed to take Appellant's deposition "with a grain of salt" because "she contradicts herself many times" throughout her depositions. (R. pp. 280-281). Additionally, instead of relying on his own client's testimony, Appellant Counsel relied exclusively on the Affidavit of Andrew Edward McCue ("McCue"), another patron at the store at both the Hearing and in his Memorandum in Opposition to Home Depot's Motion for Summary Judgment. (See generally R. pp. 261-288).

McCue's Affidavit, produced well after the close of discovery, stated that he was in front of Appellant at the time of the Incident. (See R. p. 193). Also in his Affidavit, McCue stated that merchandise was hanging off of the Pallet by and "sticking out into the walking path about 4"-6" and that is what caused [Appellant] to fall." (R. p. 193).

During McCue's deposition, McCue stated the Pallet had merchandise for sale and almost all merchandise had been purchased. (R. pp. 216-217; R. pp. 243-244). McCue confirmed that the Pallet was not messy or distorted. (R. p. 244). McCue also confirmed that it is normal for Home Depot to sell merchandise on pallets in the middle of the aisles, as was the case on the date of the Incident, and he confirmed there was a sign marketing the merchandise for sale, drawing further attention to the Pallet (R. p. 216; R. p. 244; R. p. 217). Further, McCue confirmed that there was an unobstructed view of the Pallet immediately upon entry of the store. (R. p. 215; R. p. 244).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's granting of summary judgment, this Court must apply the same standard of review as the trial court did under Rule 56, SCRPC. See Cowburn v. Leventis, 366 S.C. 20, 30, 619 S.E.2d 437, 443 (Ct. App. 2005).

"Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law." Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011); Rule 56, SCRPC. "When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." Id. "However, it is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine." Town of Hollywood v. Floyd, 403 S.C. 468, 477, 744 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2013).

“When opposing a summary judgment motion, the nonmoving party must do more than ‘simply show that there is a metaphysical doubt as to the material facts but must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.’” Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., 353 S.C. 208, 220, 578 S.E.2d 329, 335 (2003) (quoting Baughman v. American Telephone & Telegraph Co., 306 S.C. 101 S.C., 107 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991)) (emphasis added).

“The plain language of Rule 56(c), SCRCPP, mandates the entry of summary judgment after adequate time for discovery against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an essential element to the party’s case and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.” Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. S.C. Dep’t of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation, 337 S.C. 476, 485, 523 S.E.2d 795, 800 (Ct. App. 1999). A complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the non-moving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial. See Gauld v. O'Shaugnessy Realty Co., 380 S.C. 548, 559, 671 S.E.2d 79, 85 (Ct. App. 2008).

"It is a fundamental rule that 'if the plaintiff relies solely upon the pleadings, files no counter-affidavits, and makes no factual showing in opposition to a motion for summary judgment, the [trial] court is required under Rule 56, to grant summary judgment, if, under the facts presented by the defendant, he was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.'" Higgins v. Medical University of South Carolina, 326 S.C. 592, 598, 486 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1997).

ARGUMENT

Appellant has abandoned the first two grounds listed in her Notice of Appeal by failing to provide any arguments past the initial conclusory statement in its Notice of Appeal. For this reason, the trial court’s Order granting summary judgment was appropriate.

As to Appellant’s remaining issue on appeal, the underlying trial court’s grant of summary judgment was proper and should be affirmed. Throughout the course of discovery, Appellant failed to show genuine issues of material facts on multiple elements required to make her claim viable. Appellant failed to show that the Pallet constituted a dangerous condition. Appellant then failed to show that Home Depot had knowledge of the dangerous condition. Appellant and McCue’s testimony then illustrated that the condition of the Pallet was open and obvious; that Appellant should have seen the Pallet; and that Appellant knew Home Depot, generally and in this specific Store, marketed materials on pallets in the aisle. For these reasons, the trial court’s Order granting summary judgment was appropriate.

I. Appellant abandoned her first two (2) grounds stated in Appellant’s Notice of Appeal.

Appellant’s Notice of Appeal states that Appellant is appealing Judge Fant’s Order with respect to “granting of Charles Hillard’s Motion to Dismiss” and “granting of Defendants’ Motion to Strike Plaintiff/Appellant’s Motion Amend Complaint, or in the alternative, Denial of Plaintiff/Appellant’s Motion to Amend Complaint.”

Appellant did not argue these grounds for appeal in Appellant’s Initial Brief. Therefore, these issues on appeal must be deemed as abandoned. See Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006) (“An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.”) (quoting Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P’ship, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 284 (Ct. App. 1993)).

II. The Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment in its April 17, 2025 Order.

As an initial matter, Appellant attempted to create a genuine issue of material fact through confusion of which conflicting version of testimony is correct. Appellant—as admitted by

Appellant's Counsel during the Hearing—provided testimony in her second deposition that directly conflicted with her first deposition. Likewise, McCue provided testimony that directly conflicted with McCue's Affidavit as it related to the condition of the Pallet and the actual cause of the fall. The trial court correctly understood that a party cannot attempt to survive summary judgment by submitting contradicting testimony of the same witness. See Barwick v. Celotex Corp., 736 F.2d 946, 960 (4th Cir. 1984) (“A genuine issue of material fact is not created where the only issue of fact is to determine which of the two conflicting versions of the plaintiff's testimony is correct.”).

a. The Circuit Court correctly found the wooden pallet was not a dangerous condition.

In order to proceed on a claim for negligence rooted in premises liability theory, “[a]n essential element in a cause of action for negligence is the existence of a legal duty owed by the defendant to the plaintiff. Without a duty, there is no actionable negligence.” Bishop v. South Carolina Dep't of Mental Health, 331 S.C. 79, 86, 502 S.E.2d 78, 81 (1998). If there is no duty, then the defendant in a negligence action is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.” Singleton v. Sherer, 377 S.C. 185, 200, 659 S.E.2d 196, 204 (Ct. App. 2008) (citations omitted).

“A merchant **is not** an insurer of the safety of his customer but owes only the duty of exercising ordinary care to keep the premises in reasonably safe condition.” Garvin v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 343 S.C. 625, 628, 541 S.E.2d 831, 832 (2001) (emphasis added). It is well established in South Carolina that a customer who seeks to recover for injuries caused by a dangerous or defective condition on a storekeeper's premises “must show either (1) that the injury was caused by a specific act of the defendant which created the dangerous condition; or (2) that the defendant had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition and failed to remedy it.” Wintersteen v. Food Lion, Inc., 344 S.C. 32, 35, 542 S.E.2d 728, 729 (2001).

In Garvin, a customer (“Customer”) entered a store (“Store”) and saw canned items (the “Cans”) stacked inside boxes (the “Boxes”), with the tops of the Boxes cut off, displayed in an aisle for sale. Id. at 628. Customer retrieved and placed multiple Cans in her shopping cart. Id. Before Customer could retrieve additional Cans, approximately fifteen (15) or so Cans struck Customer in the face. Id. Customer argued that the Store had created a dangerous condition. Id. The Store was granted summary judgment on the basis that the Store a) lacked notice of any alleged issue; and b) that there was no evidence that the Store created a dangerous condition. Id.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina held that summary judgment by the trial court was appropriate. Id. Customer failed to present any evidence that the Boxes were a dangerous condition. Id. Customer further failed to present any evidence that, even if the Boxes and Cans were a dangerous condition, the Store was on notice of the dangerous condition. Id. The Supreme Court of South Carolina found that, “[t]o accept [Customer’s] contention would render [the Store] an insurer of its customers’ safety. This is **simply not the law in South Carolina.**” Id. at 629 (citing Felder v. K-Mart, 297 S.C. 446, 377 S.E.2d 332 (1989) (emphasis added)).

Similar to Garvin, Appellant’s testimony fails to offer any evidence on how the Pallet was a dangerous condition. Appellant did not offer any testimony to illustrate the Pallet was dangerous due to materials on top of the Pallet being stacked or kept haphazardly. (R. p. 49). Rather, Appellant argued that the sheer existence of the Pallet, in and of itself, was dangerous because it was in an aisle. (R. p. 159).

In an attempt to create a genuine issue of material fact, an affidavit, issued by McCue outside the time allotted for discovery, was produced. McCue swore under oath that the merchandise was hanging off of the Pallet, causing Appellant to fall. (R. p. 193). When deposed, McCue backtracked, stating that the Pallet was essentially empty, not overflowing with

merchandise, to the extent that McCue could see the Store's floor beneath the Pallet. (R. pp. 243-244). Diehl and McCue's depositions do not illustrate that the Pallet was broken, messy, or in need of repair.

Appellant's theory of liability is weaker than those contained in Garvin. In this instance, Appellant has not produced any evidence that the Pallet, unlike falling merchandise in Gavin, caused her injuries. Rather, the only way Appellant could have been injured is for Appellant to walk into the Pallet—a stationary object—which Appellant agrees is how the Incident occurred. (R. p. 158).

Appellant is asking the Court to overturn longstanding South Carolina law and render all conditions within a store dangerous. This, in turn, would make Respondents the insurer of Appellant. As the Supreme Court of South Carolina previously held, "this is simply not the law in South Carolina." Garvin, 343 S.C. at 629, 541 S.E.2d at 833 (2001). Without the Pallet being a dangerous condition, Appellant fails to meet the duty element as a matter of law and the trial court's order granting summary judgment must be affirmed.

b. Appellant failed to provide any evidence that Home Depot had notice of the dangerous condition.

If a condition is not inherently dangerous, then a plaintiff must illustrate that the defendant had actual or constructive knowledge of and failed to remedy the dangerous condition. See Legette v. Piggly-Wiggly, Inc., 368 S.C. 576, 579, 629 S.E.2d 375, 376-77 (Ct. App. 2006). A merchant is chargeable only with actual knowledge or with knowledge that he should have known by the exercise of reasonable care. See Darter v. Greenville Cmty. Hotel, 194 F. Supp. 642, 645 (D.S.C. 1961) (The Court held that a motel owner was not liable for a woman being scalded by hot water in her bath. Further, the Court opined that "to hold [the motel] responsible for this unfortunate occurrence would be to hold it an insurer. Under South Carolina law the [motel] was not an

insurer.”). In the underlying litigation, Appellant failed to produce any evidence that Home Depot had knowledge of the dangerous condition purported to exist.

Through one iteration of McCue’s testimony, Appellant’s Counsel argues that the Pallet was protruding into the aisle more than other pallets lined up directly behind the Pallet. (R. p. 223). McCue stated that the Pallet was largely empty, illustrating that customers had taken the inventory from the Pallet. (R. pp. 216-217). There is reason to believe that, if this Pallet was off-center, the Pallet could have shifted throughout the day.

Appellant did not depose Home Depot. Appellant does not know if this condition is different than the condition of the Pallet at the time of the Incident. There is no evidence that the Pallet caused injuries to any other customers on the date of the Incident. There was no reason Home Depot should have or could have anticipated any injuries or incidents arising from the Pallet as Plaintiff cannot deny that other customers traversed the area without any issues. Therefore, similar to Darter, Appellant cannot maintain that Home Depot was on notice of any dangerous conditions. Without illustrating that Respondents knew or should have known of a dangerous condition, Appellant fails to meet the duty element as a matter of law and the trial court’s order granting summary judgment must be affirmed.

c. Appellant’s testimony illustrates that any purported condition was open and obvious.

The trial court determined that the Pallet, even if dangerous, was an open and obvious condition that Appellant was in the best position to appreciate. Landowners owe a duty to warn their invitees of latent dangers to which the owner is aware. Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light, 340 S.C. 438, 445, 531 S.E.2d 535, 538 (Ct. App. 2000). However, the duty to warn ceases to exist when the condition is open and obvious. Callender v. Charleston Doughnut Corp., 305 S.C. 123, 126, 406 S.E.2d 361, 362 (1991); see also Sides v. Greenville Hosp. Sys., 362 S.C. 250, 256,

607 S.E.2d 362, 365 (Ct. App. 2004) (Holding that “[a] property owner generally does not have a duty to warn others of open and obvious conditions . . .”).

McCue stated that the Pallet was immediately visible from more than fifty (50) feet. (R. p. 215; R. p. 244). McCue further testified that there was nothing obstructing the view of the Pallet. (R. p. 215). Appellant agreed that she would have seen the Pallet if not for Appellant looking down at her own feet. (R. p. 51). Thus, Appellant would have noted the condition of said Pallet if Appellant was looking where she was walking.

Appellant’s Counsel attempts to argue that this case falls under an exception to the “open and obvious” rule. An exception to the “open and obvious” rule only exists should the owner have reason to anticipate a customer will suffer a specific harm, and it is the burden of the plaintiff to show that this exception applies. See Garvin, 343 S.C. at 628-29, 541 S.E.2d at 833. However, this “reasonably anticipated harm” exception is inapplicable under the evidence presented before this Court.

Appellant’s Counsel attempts to argue that an exception to the “open and obvious” rule applies because Home Depot should have anticipated this specific harm from the condition created by the Pallet. Despite bearing the burden to show the exception applies, Appellant’s Counsel’s rhetoric consists of no evidentiary backing, as Appellant’s Counsel did not depose Home Depot during the course of the underlying litigation. Appellant’s Counsel can only make conclusory statements as to what Home Depot should and should not have anticipated.

Appellant’s Counsel’s rhetoric is undone by Appellant and McCue’s testimony. According to both Appellant and McCue, it is a normal business practice for merchandise to be sold on Pallets. (R. pp. 50-51; R. p. 244). Thus, Home Depot should expect customers, such as Appellant, to be looking in the aisle for the Pallet containing merchandise. Home Depot would have anticipated

that Appellant would have seen the Pallet from fifty feet away, as McCue testified he did. (R. p. 215). Based on the testimony and evidence before the Court, Home Depot could not have anticipated this harm. Thus, Appellant fails to meet the breach of duty element as a matter of law, as the condition was open and obvious. Thus, the trial court's order granting summary judgment must be affirmed.

d. The trial court correctly determined that Appellant's own negligence barred Appellant's claim

In South Carolina, "[a] plaintiff in a negligence action may recover damages if his or her own negligence is not greater than that of the defendant." Ross v. Paddy, 532 S.E.2d 612, 614 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000). South Carolina courts have held no liability exists "for injuries resulting from dangers that were obvious or that should have been observed in the exercise of reasonable care." Sides v. Greenville Hosp. Sys., 362 S.C. 250, 256, 607 S.E.2d 362, 365 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light, 340 S.C. 438, 531 S.E.2d 535 (Ct. App. 2000)).

In Cerny v. Columbia Sussex Mgmt., the Horry County Circuit Court held that a change in elevation to an outdoor shower deck was a condition that a person should have discovered by reasonable care. Cerny v. Columbia Sussex Mgmt., 2019 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 10173, C/A No. 2018-CP-26-02552 (South Carolina Court of Common Pleas, June 14, 2019). Specifically, the Court concluded that a person should have seen the change in elevation because "The exercise of reasonable care involves a person watching where he or she is walking." Cerny v. Columbia Sussex Mgmt. at *6.

Appellant stated she knew that Home Depot had merchandise pallets on display throughout the Store. (R. p. 50). Despite knowing Pallets were out on display, Appellant stated she walked throughout the Store while looking at her feet. (R. p. 159). Appellant stated that this was unusual in that she looks where she is walking more than ninety percent (90%) of the time when walking.

(R. p. 161). Appellant agreed that it is normal for people to look where they are walking. (R. pp. 161-162). Finally, Appellant acknowledged had she been looking where she was walking, as she normally does and as a reasonable person does, she would have seen the Pallet. (R. p. 51). Thus, similar to Cenry, Appellant's own testimony and acknowledgment of her failure to use reasonable care that she utilizes ninety percent (90%) of the time while traversing the Store served as an evidentiary basis that Appellant's negligence was greater than Respondents.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the Order of the Honorable Patrick C. Fant, III, dated April 17, 2025, granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents should be affirmed.

Appellant has abandoned her first two grounds in Appellant's Notice of Appeal by failing to argue these two (2) grounds.

Appellant failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact as to a duty owed by Respondents in that the Pallet, a stationary object, was not a dangerous condition. Thus, the trial court properly granted summary judgment to Respondents in that no duty was owed to Appellant.

Should this Court find that a dangerous condition existed, Appellant failed to produce any evidence that Respondents were on notice of any dangerous condition. Thus, the trial court properly granted summary judgment to Respondents in that no duty owed to Appellant was breached.

Appellant failed to dispute that the condition of the Pallet was open and obvious. Thus, the trial court properly granted summary judgment to Respondents as Appellant's claim was barred by the condition being "open and obvious."

Appellant admitted that she would have seen the Pallet had Appellant been walking in a manner consistent with how she walks more than ninety percent (90%) of the time and how

Appellant maintained other individuals should walk. Thus, the trial court properly granted summary judgment to Respondents in that Appellant's claims were barred.